
Parks 
Canada 

THE RED-ASSINIBOINE JUNCTION: 

A LAND USE AND STRUCTURAL HISTORY, 

1770-1980 

by RODGER GUINN 

Manuscript Report 
Number 

355 

Pares 
Canada 



ERRATA 

p. 119, lines 13-27: There has been a change in the 
text to corect an error in the quote and its inter­
pretation. It should read: 

Two recent students of this controversy, John 
Selwood and Evelyn Baril, argued that the 1872 
Vaughan survey of the reserve "... reflected an 
isolationistic attitude to the rest of the settle­
ment; little care was taken to bring it into con­
formity with the layout and plans of other property 
owners, or notice taken of existing buildings and 
trails."64 This recent analysis of the Hudson's 
Bay Company's land policy requires further elabora­
tion. The actions of the Company throughout the 
1870s, of which the survey was part, reflected a 
concerted attempt by the Hudson's Bay Company to 
channel and force development of Winnipeg on their 
reserve. By the use of political pressure, econo­
mic power, and geographic advantage, the Company 
had done its utmost to bring about the development 
of Winnipeg on their own property. 

p. 189, following note 63, insert: 

6 4 John Selwood and Evelyn Baril, "Land Policies 
of the Hudson's Bay Company at Upper Fort 
Garry: 1869-1879," Prairie Forum", " 1977, Vol. 
2, No. 2, pp. 101-119. 

Errata applied on pages 119 and 189 in electronic edition. 
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Preface 

The purpose of this report is to present a comprehensive land 

use history of the junction of the Red and Assiniboine Rivers, 

in Winnipeg, Manitoba. Throughout more than two centuries, 

this site has played a key role in the historical evolution of 

Winnipeg and Western Canada. Structures ranging from fur 

trade posts, riverboat warehouses, and railway terminal faci­

lities, have all made an appearance near the junction. More­

over, the "Forks" of the Red and Assiniboine has served various 

societies and cultures as a meeting place, temporary encamp­

ment, garden plot, trading rendezvous, driving park and a 

railway marshalling yard. Some of these uses figure promin­

ently in the history of the West, while others naturally are 

of less significance. 

The probabilities of uncovering physical evidence and 

remains of these various uses and accompanying structures 

vary greatly. Undoubtedly some will be easily traced, while 

others are probably—either buried deep beneath land fill or 

carried away by the waters of the Red River. 

In order to trace the physical evolution of this site, 

and assess the historical significance of the activities 

carried out there, a comprehensive examination of the entire 

historic period is needed. It is for this ambitious object 

that this report is directed. In addition, this study is 

intended to serve as a guide for future archaeological digs. 

As precisely as the historical documents would allow, the lo­

cation and characteristics of every structure and land useage 

were presented. 

The time frame of this study, and the wide variety of 



uses to which the junction has been subjected posed numerous 

logistical and methodological problems in the production of 

this report. Moreover, some phases of the site's history 

abound with relevant material, while other periods are almost 

void of information. Unfortunately, the abundance of documen­

tation did not necessarily coincide with the more significant 

historical phases. Some periods, such as the pre-contact, 

and early French occupation are extremely deficient in docu­

mentation, while others, such as the more recent railway era, 

contains so much information that it became difficult to 

integrate it all into the report. 

The methodology employed to overcome these logistical 

problems was straight forward. The entire 250 year period 

was broken down into nine phases of varying lengths. The 

divisions between these phases or chapters were set arbitrari­

ly. They were, however, based on two pre-requisites: the 

availability of data, and historical significance. For each 

chapter a separate historical narrative and interpretive 

conclusion was produced. Furthermore, the evolution of each 

of these phases is depicted graphically by the inclusion of 

a site plan of the junction. Each chapter also includes a 

collection of contemporary maps, plans, paintings or photo­

graphs of the junction which will assist to illustrate the 

chronological development of the site. 

In assembling the material for this report and for per­

mission to publish extracts and photographs from their collec­

tions, I am indebted to a number of individuals and institu­

tions. Firstly, a note of thanks must be extended to the 

Hudson's Bay Company Archives in Winnipeg and its staff of 

Shirlee Smith, Garron Wells and Gord Ellenbass who provided 

countless hours of assistance. Likewise, a thank you is ex­

tended to the entire staff of the Provincial Archives of 

Manitoba and in particular Betty Blight and Nora Johnston, 

for their assistance in the assembling of many of the photo­

graphic and cartographic sources. 
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The Public Archives of Canada also provided an abundance 

of material for this study. In particular, the staff in the 
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Introduction 

Almost every phase of Western Canada's colourful history is 

represented, in some way, at the junction of the Red and 

Assiniboine Rivers. From the very onset of human habitation 

and travel in the area and subsequently, throughout all the 

major phases of Western Canadian history, the "Forks" of the 

Red and Assiniboine has been a meeting place of special im­

portance. Despite this prominence, an ever present anomaly 

stands out when one assesses the history of the junction. 

How is it that a site, so vigorously contested for throughout 

most of the historic period, has now become a classic example 

of socio-economic under-utilization? From the earliest re­

corded inhabitants of this area through the exploration and 

the fur trade era, the Red River Settlement period and into 

the early urbanization phase, the land adjacent to the Forks 

was a very attractive and sought after property. After 18 75, 

however, this site gradually lost much of its appeal until, 

during the last half century the junction has come to be an 

area on the fringe of Winnipeg's main urban corridor of 

development. 

An explanation for this phenomenon was put forward by 

historian W.L. Morton before the American Historical Association 

in Chicago in 1950. In this essay entitled "The Significance 

of site in the Settlement of the American and Canadian Wests," 

Morton developed two major premises. Firstly, "...that the 

Settlement of the west was in a large measure a competition 

for site," and secondly "...that the absolute significance of 

site is most pronounced in primitive society and becomes 

progressively less so as society grows more complex." The Forks 
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of the Red and Assiniboine, the history of which is more than 

familiar to Morton, provides an excellent case study to ex­

amine this thesis. Throughout the pre-contact, fur trade 

and early settlement eras, competition for control of the ad­

vantageously situated property at the Forks was keen. After 

1875, however, the introduction of a more sophisticated tech­

nology in terms of transportation, communication, and urban 

development (and numerous other factors including politics), 

made it possible for alternative sites to challenge the su­

premacy of the Forks. In Winnipeg, site was no longer the sole 

déterminent of the profitability of an enterprise. From 1875 

to the present, the owners of this valuable property have 

had a difficult time attracting any industrial or commercial 

activity. In fact, the city of Winnipeg, which had its gene­

sis at the Forks of the Red and Assiniboine, grew and devel­

oped away from the Forks. The background and events that 

contributed to this phenomenon will form a major portion of 

this study. 

The period prior to 1875, at the Forks, was characterized 

by a continual struggle for its possession. The importance 

of the Forks to all its pre-1875 inhabitants was derived from 

the close interaction of geography and human endeavour. The 

pre-contact aboriginal societies as well as those who succeeded 

them, relied heavily on key water oriented transportation 

routes. The Forks of the Red and Assiniboine provided ready 

access to large and varied tracts of territory. It was its 

geographic significance, therefore, which elevated the junction 

to a prominent position. 

Certain key sites were of great importance to the life 

and lifestyle of the aboriginal tribes. 

The well-being, if not the survival of a band de­
pended on assembly at one or another of given 
kinds of places at given seasons. The fall 
fishery and the Buffalo Hunt, the rice gathering 
and the sugar making, the trading voyage, and the 
dispersal to the winter trapping grounds gave some 

2 



rhythm to the movement of the bands of the Plains 
and the Woods Indians.2 

The economy of the fur trade era, involving the French 1731-

176 3, the Canadian and Nor'Westers 1766-1821, and the Hudson's 

Bay Company from 1821-1871, also placed a heavy dependence 

on "site." The trade of the Montréal based Northwest Company 

serves as a good example. The great distance and the diffi­

culty of the voyage to and from the West from Montreal, com­

bined with the shortness of the navigation season in the in­

land waters, meant that trade and provisioning posts had to 

be chosen with great care. The success of the operation rested 

on an orderly, efficient and quick transfer of goods. Conse­

quently, the geographic advantages of certain sites over 

others had to be exploited, and they were. 

After 1875, the relative importance of site in the devel­

opment of Winnipeg diminished. This is not to say that geo­

graphic position was not important, but merely that other more 

complex factors played an increasingly large role. The intro­

duction of more efficient and cheaper transportation, for 

instance, played a key role in this transformation. There were 

other determinants as well, and these will be discussed in 

detail later in this report. It is sufficient at this juncture 

to emphasize the important distinction that existed between 

the pre and post urban eras. 

The historical significance of the Forks, therefore, is 

primarily concentrated in the pre-1875 era when its prominence 

was closely linked to its strategic geographic position. The 

country about the lower course of the Red River is a transi­

tional zone that borders on three distinct geographic and 

vegetation regions. The red and Assiniboine Rivers, along 

with their tributaries, provide ready access to all these 

regions. The Great Plains of North America stretch out to 

the south and west. The coniferous forests of the Canadian 

shield border on the north and east and the parkland belt 

commences a short distance to the north west. Each of these 
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regions, with their accompanying vegetation and climatic 

characteristics, dictated diverse life patterns for its in­

habitants. Due to these transitional qualities, the Forks 

was the domain of diverse peoples and cultures, as well as 

a place where these cultures would interact and at times, come 

into conflict. 

This interrelationship between geography and history 

is a central theme in Canadian history. Much of the historio­

graphy of Canada, and Western Canada in particular, is an 
3 

examination of the interaction of man and his environment. 

This theme is evident, whether one is examining the career of 

La Verendrye in the 18th century, or the struggle of scientific 

dry land agriculture on the prairies in the 20th century. 

Therefore, a history of the junction of the Red and Assiniboine 

Rivers, and more specifically a land use history, requires a 

comprehensive description of the physical setting. 

Historiography 

The existing literature dealing specifically with the history 

of the Forks is primarily confined to a small collection of 

published articles that attempt to pinpoint the location and 

construction dates of the various 18th and 19th century fur 

trade forts. In order to comprehend the historical signifi­

cance of the Forks, a more inclusive and more analytical 

approach is necessary. Little attention has been placed on the 

era prior to the arrival of the French explorers, or, for that 

matter, the period after the decline of the fur trade. 

Moreover, the existing historiography varies greatly, both in 

quality and consistency. 

The literature touching upon the Red and Assiniboine 

Junction is also wanting in interpretive quality. Although 

the writers trace its historical significance to the Forks' 

advantageous geographic position in relation to the fur trade, 

they do not develop this thesis fully. Others have merely 
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attributed the significance of the Forks to the fact that it 

was the predecessor to the City of Winnipeg, or have concerned 

themselves with the structural evolution of the site without 

attempting to place its development into comprehensive analy­

tical context. 

There are three outstanding examples in Western Canadian 

Historiography where the connection between history and geo­

graphy has been made. Throughout all of his works, historian 

W.L. Morton has placed a heavy emphasis on the geographic 

influence on Canadian History. His essay "The Significance 

of Site in the Settlement of the American and Canadian Wests," 

clearly emphasizes this connection. Fellow historian, Arthur 

Silver Morton, also believed that a knowledge of the geographic 

or physical setting was crucial to an understanding of Western 

Canadian history. He began his monumental study, A History of 

the Canadian West to 1870-71, with a chapter devoted to the 

geographic and climatic zones that comprised the region. 

More recently, historical geographer Arthur J. Ray, in his 

important revisionist work Indians in the Fur Trade, also 

placed considerable emphasis upon the Indian's interrelationship 

with his physical environment. 

The majority of the historical writing focussing upon the 

historical development of the Forks and the city of Winnipeg 

is more limited in its interpretations than those of the two 

Mortons and Ray. It is best represented by an article published 

in the Transactions of the Royal Society of Canada, and three 

which appeared in the Historical and Scientific Society of 

Manitoba Transactions. George Bryce, one of Manitoba's pioneer 

historians, presented a paper to the Royal Society of Canada 

in 1885, shortly after the dismantling of Upper Fort Garry. 

The premise to his article was established in the introductory 

paragraph: 

Five forts around which gather the most interesting 
events connected with the history of Rupert's Land 
and the Canadian Northwest were erected within what 
is not the limits of the City of Winnipeg.4 
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Bryce then proceeded to unveil a series of facts and occur­

rences relating to the establishment of Forts Rouge, Gibral­

tar, the Original Fort Garry, and Upper Fort Garry. He did 

not attempt to resolve the question of why there were so many 

forts built at this river junction. 

In 1927, the then president of the Historical and Scien­

tific Society of Manitoba, Charles Napier Bell, again addressed 

this same topic in an address to the society entitled "The 
5 

Old Forts of Winnipeg." Bell also neglected to examine the 

underlying reasons for the erection of so many forts at the 

junction. Subsequently, the society's patient members heard 

two papers read by William Douglas titled "The Forks Becomes 

a City" and "New Light on the Old Forts of Winnipeg." Douglas 

set out the terms of reference in his first paper. Who, he 

asked, were the first white men to gaze upon the site of 

Winnipeg? The efforts of Douglas, like those of Bryce and Bell, 

failed to tie the historical evolution of Winnipeg, to the 

geographic significance of the site. Antoine Champagne, in 

his Nouvelles Etudes sur les La Vérendrye: Et Les Postes de 
7 

L'Ouest, is the most recent addition to the list of works 

concerned with the establishment of forts at the junction of 

the Red and Assiniboine. Champagne's work, which is restricted 

to the French Period in Western Canada (1731-1763), also failed 

to examine the connection between fur trade posts and geographic 

site. Aside from this serious lack of interpretation, most of 

these works also contain numerous factual errors, particularly 

with relation to the dates of construction for these various 

establishments erected at the Forks and their respective loca­

tions . 

It is appropriate, at this juncture, to examine these 

studies in light of the sources used, the methodology employed 

and some of the conclusion reached. In most cases their con­

clusions concerning the establishments erected at the Forks 

are similar. The major exception was the controversy surroun­

ding the location of Fort Rouge. Bryce and Champagne, relying 
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on cartographic evidence, placed Fort Rouge on the south bank 

of the Assiniboine River. C.N. Bell and William Douglas 

argued that Fort Rouge was probably situated on the north 
o 

bank of the same river. A.S. Morton was inconclusive. 

Bryce, in his 1885 article "The Five Forts of Winnipeg" 

relied heavily on the five maps from the La Verendrye period 

which had been deposited in the French Archives in Paris. As 

he did not examine La Verendrye's Journals, his dating of 

the construction of Fort Rouge in 1736 and his conclusions con­

cerning its builder are incorrect. Fifteen years later, in 
9 

his The Remarkable History of the Hudson's Bay Company, Bryce 

had examined the La Verendrye Journals and corrected the 

construction date of Fort Rouge to 1738. He still maintained, 

however, that Fort Rouge was built on the south side of the 

Assiniboine. As to the subsequent forts, Bryce based his 

conclusions on interviews with Red River "old timers," and 

on personal recollection. Once again, he was mistaken in his 

claim that the dismantled Fort Gibraltar was never rebuilt. 

Later evidence will show that it was. Moreover, his placing 

of the construction of the original Fort Gibraltar at 1806 

was at least four years off the mark. He did not cite his 

sources for this conclusion, or for that matter, for the majo­

rity of his conclusions. His statements on the last Fort 

Garry, however, must be considered closely as they were based 

primarily on personal recollection. 

Charles Napier Bell's 1927 article "The Old Forts of 

Winnipeg," was an improvement on Bryce's work. Bell also 

examined the documents relating to the French Period, but, 

unlike Bryce, he used the La Verendrye maps in conjunction with 

the published La Verendrye Journals. By relying on these 

Journals, Bell correctly placed the construction date of Fort 

Rouge at 1738, and accurately stated that it was built under 

the direction of Monsieur de Lamarque, not by the more famous 

La Verendrye. More importantly, Bell was the first to question 
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the traditional site of Fort Rouge. He was convinced that it 

was situated on the north bank. The basic premise of his ar­

gument was that the south bank of the Assiniboine was consider­

ably lower than the north and consequently more liable to 

spring flooding. Secondly, there was the fact that the north 

side of the Assiniboine subsequently was chosen by everyone 

who established themselves at the Forks, including the North 

West Company and the Hudson's Bay Company. His final argument, 

and the one that convinced him to argue in favour of the north 

bank location, was based on evidence drawn from Alexander Henry's 

journals, which Bell had uncovered in the Parliamentary Library 

at Ottawa in 18 87. Henry wrote: 

Upon this spot, in the time of the French there 
was a trading establishment, traces of which are 
still to be seen where the chimneys and cellars 
stood.12 

Bell was convinced that these "traces" were undoubtedly those 

of Fort Rouge, and that Henry was on the north bank of the 

Assiniboine at the time of his writing. The cartographic evi­

dence from the La Vérendrye period which placed Fort Rouge on 

the south bank was dismissed by Bell as careless and inaccurate 

renderings by the draftsman. Bell concluded: 

An impartial study of the ascertained facts must 
convince any student that Lamarque built the Fort 
Rouge post, that it was in existence for probably 
only one winter, and that it was on the north bank 
of the Assiniboine River at the Forks.13 

With regard to the later forts, Bell again provided more 

detail than Bryce. He referred to the journals of Saint 
14 Pierre, La Verendrye's successor, and in particular, St-

Pierre's reference to wintering at the Forks in 1752-1753. 

Bell also noted for the first time that a Mr. Dorion wintered 

at the Forks in 1803-04. As to the construction of the first 

North West Company fort at the Forks, Bell relied on the tes­

timony of John McDonald of Garth, published in L.R. Masson's 
15 

Les Bourgeois de la Compagnie du Nord-Ouest. McDonald claimed 
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